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The Hlucin-Darkovicky
Czechoslovak
Fortification Complex

The Hlu¢in-Darkovicky Czechoslovak Fortification Complex is a uni-
que artefact of its type, and of immense value in a European context.
The Fortification Complex is an exhibition of military technology that
gives visitors the opportunity to find out about a major aspect of the
history of the first half of the 20™ century.

The Czechoslovak Fortification Complex in Hlucin-Darkovicky
has been part of the Silesian Museum since 1992. It forms one of the
museum’s six exhibition premises, with a close thematic link to the
national Second World War Memorial in nearby Hrabyné.

In the context of the Silesian Museum, the Fortification Com-
plex is specific in that, while it is located in the countryside, its the-
matic focus is relatively unconventional within its category. It includes
a group of structures that were created as part of the Czechoslovak
border defence system, and which are amongst the most interesting
in the Czech Republic and the best-preserved in Europe. The Com-
plex consists of five structures, both one-sided and two-sided, of vari-
ous types and durability grades. Experts are therefore able to present
the battlefield and individual structures, both in the condition and
with the fittings as they were in 1938, as well as the condition they
were in at the end of the war.

The complex is also symbolic of key events in Czechoslovak
history, being, as it is, closely linked to the Munich Agreement and
loss of the Sudetenland, and therefore one of the most dramatic mo-
ments in the history of Silesia.

Installation of left-hand bell-chamber in MO-S 19 Alej (20 May 1986)
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Construction of the border fortifications

The second half of the 1930s was a time of rising international tension and increasing instability, caused by the
militaristic policies of Hitler's Germany after 1933. In order to protect its democratic system, territorial integrity and
national sovereignty Czechoslovakia, which was particularly threatened, began the construction of a massive system
of permanent border fortifications. The reinforced-concrete fortresses with their military crews, together with other
units of the Czechoslovakian army, were intended to ensure the effective protection of the state, which was threate-
ned by the military aggression of Nazi Germany. The greatest threat along the then Czechoslovak-German borders,
and the strategic priority, was along the northern zone stretching from Bohumin to Décin. It was in this region, in
the area between the towns of Bohumin and Haj ve Slezsku, that the construction of heavy fortifications was begun

in 1935.

Map of Czechoslovak fortifications

The next three years, culminating in September
1938, saw the construction, fitting and, chiefly, arming
of forty heavy-duty forts, including one artillery fort
and several embedded type-37 A casemates with en-
hanced fortifications (known colloquially as ‘fopiky’ after
ROP, the Czechoslovakian Directorate of Fortifications).
An integrated system of obstacles and a cable telephone
network were also built, as well as barracks for Border
Regiment 4 in Hlucin.

The distinguishing factor of the ‘MO’ (Moravska
Ostrava) sector was that during its construction the au-
thorities sought to refine the design for future stages of
the fortification system as a whole. While its form was,
initially, heavily influenced by the French ‘Maginot Line,
this was increasingly simplified and improved over time
so that the maximum level of defence could be achieved
at reasonable cost.
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Map of MO (Moravskd Ostrava) sector of fortification system

The construction of fortifications was under the
control of Engineering Command Il (Zenijni skupinové
velitelstvi (ZSV)), based in Bohumin and Hlu¢in-Dlouha
Ves. This body was directly subordinate to the Directo-
rate of Fortifications, which, as part of the National De-

MO-S 18 Obora as it is today

fence Ministry, was responsible for construction works.
The first commander of ZSV Il was Maj. Antonin Sames,
who on 20% August 1937 was given command of the
newly-created ZSV VI in Trutnov; he was replaced by Lt.-
Col. Josef Libnar.
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Consequences of the Munich Agreement and the Fortification

Complex during the war

Following the Munich Agreement of 30" September
1938, Czechoslovakia was compelled to cede its bor-
der territories — the Sudetenland - to Germany. This
resulted in the annexation of areas in which over 50%
of the population was German to the Third Reich. Nazi
Germany argued that the Sudeten German regions
should be reunited with the Reich; however, these areas
had belonged to the Czech crown since the 10™ century.
This agreement, made between Germany, Great Britain,
France and Italy, led to the loss by Czechoslovakia of
a total 41,098 km? of territory and 4,879,000 inhabitants.

At the same time, however, it lost its border forti-
fication system. All facilities had to be surrendered with-
out a fight. Although the network was not complete (a
total of 15,463 heavy and 1,276 light structures were
planned, with the final stage of construction scheduled
for 1946), it was, nevertheless, relatively extensive, and

consisted of nearly 10 thousand light structures, intend-
ed as a temporary defensive shield for infantry, and 263
heavy structures, intended to be permanently manned
and equipped for long-term resistance.

The border region was subsequently occupied by
German forces. All armoured components were removed
and later utilised by the German army and industry. In the
years 1944-1945 the German army started to repair and
improvise the arming of the fortifications in an effort to
build the so-called Moravian Defensive Gate and Jeseniky
Barrier Zone in response to the approach of the Red Army.
The sophistication of the pre-war Czechoslovak fortifica-
tions system was demonstrated by the heavy fighting
that took place for control of the system during the sub-
sequent battle for the Ostrava region, which was the most
intense military operation on the territory of Czechoslo-
vakia and one that cost many lives.

Renewal and opening of the fortifications

At a relatively early stage after the end of the war, a num-
ber of people started to show an interest in the rows
of reinforced-concrete defensive structures from the
1930s. However, due to more urgent tasks associated
with regenerating the country, the structures gradually
fell into disrepair or had their fittings stolen.

In the 1970s, however, the situation started to
change and there was growing interest in the refurbish-
ment of the structures. It was at this time that the first,
often informal, groups of enthusiasts came into being;
these groups showed remarkable dedication in refur-
bishing individual fortresses, for example in the Ndchod,
Kralice, Ostrava and Opava regions.

Military history and fortress enthusiasts devoted
the greatest amount of attention to the group of for-
tresses located north of Hlucin, between the villages of
Markvartovice, Silhefovice, Darkovice and Darkovi¢ky.
These fortresses lay in ruins and it was clear that the pro-
cess of reconstruction would not be an easy one. How-
ever, these fortresses included various types of struc-
ture, varying degrees of durability, one- and two-sided
structures with varying types of armament, and were
relatively easily accessible.

The refurbishment of the Fortifications Complex
began in 1980, when the then newly-created Museum
of the Revolutionary Struggle and Liberation in Ostrava
created a working group, headed by Jan Polasek, whose

goal it was to refurbish several, selected fortification
structures. On 28" June 1984 the group took charge
of four different types of structure, the future Hlu¢in-
Darkovicky Fortifications Complex, and the three-mem-
ber working group commenced reconstruction work
together with other volunteers.

The relevant plans of structures and their fittings
were provided by the Military Archive in Prague. The
Alej structure, for example, necessitated the removal of
most of the trees and bushes that had grown up around
it, forming a relatively thick growth blocking the view of
the fortress.

Jan Poldsek next to generator in MO-S Alej, 1985

The Hlucin-Darkovicky Czechoslovak Fortification Complex

Old tree-stumps were also removed from the vi-
cinity of the blockhouse and a bridge was constructed
over the ditch that had been created following the re-
moval of rocks in the rear part of the blockhouse, pro-
viding temporary access to the interior of the structure.
In the next phase of reconstruction, armour plating was
taken, with the permission of the Regional Housing and
Construction Office in Olomouc, from the fortresses in
Milostovice as a replacement for plating that had been
removed by the occupying forces in 1940.

MO-S 19 Alejin 1984

Jan Poldsek and Jindrich Czeniek next to a fopik in 1985.

A car park was constructed and a digger used to
clear the anti-tank ditches on both sides of the fortress,
which had been choked up for years with soil and waste.
The open space around Alej was filled with obstacles,
chiefly concrete cones and steel ‘hedgehogs’

The first structure to accept visitors was a fopik, the
interior of which was fitted with technical equipment,
including weapons. The interior was ‘christened’ on 28*
May 1985. The exhibition premises then commenced full
operations on 28" September 1988.
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Exhibition Infantry blockhouse MO-S 19 Alej

The Hlucin-Darkovicky Fortification Complex consists of five structures.
The main structure in the Complex is MO-S 19 Alej, which is a two-sided,
two-winged, two-floored, independent infantry blockhouse, with two bells
and a gun turret, supplemented by the MO-17 Stipky, MO-S 18 Obora and
MO-S 20 Orel heavy structures and the embedded, enhanced type-37A
140 Z casemate, known as a Fopik.

Overview of basic data for heavy-duty fortifications
of Hlucin-Darkovi¢ky Czechoslovak Fortification Complex

Number MO-S 18 MO-S 19 MO-S 20
Name Obora Alej Orel
Resistance I 1] \%
Date of concreting 27.7.-3.8.1936 21.8.-27.8.1936 5.12.-11.12.1936
@ | Strength of concrete (kg/cm?) 388 420 396
g Volume of concrete (m?) 1193 1993 2856
2 | Steel reinforcement (c. t) 80 150 200
A Roof thickness (cm) 200 250 350
Frontal wall thickness (cm) 225 275 350
Thickness of other walls (cm) 100-170 125-200 150-300
Resistant to grenade caliber (cm) 24 31 42
Number of crew 24 36 38 Period view from bell of MO-S 18 Obora to MO-S 19 Alej
Zlk 1 2 2
Armoured turrets Zp _ _ 1 The blockhouse was designed to house a crew of
K2K _ 1 six. Its reinforced-concrete front wall, oriented towards
1 (@4K) ] 3 3 the north, is 275 cm thick, the roof 250 cm thick and
side and back walls between 125-200 cm thick. The ar-
> Concreted M 1 1 2 moured ports and cupola were plated with armour of up
5 N 2 4 4 to 30 cm thickness, guaranteeing resistance to artillery
% Armoured M - 1 - of up to 305 mm.
%’ N 1 2 2
Cannon rounds supplied 1824 3648 7232
Machine-gun rounds supplied 198 000 475 200 796 800
Hand grenades supplied 200 375 375
Signalling flares supplied 160 320 320
Manufacturer of armoured doors Skoda Vitkovice Vitkovice, Skoda (Zp) MO-5 19 Alej
Legend: Zlk observation bell-chamber Due to the fact that it was built in an exposed location on
Zp artillery observation bell-chamber the then Czechoslovak-German border, in open terrain
K2K shooting copula for type-37 2TK north of Hlu¢in that would permit a strong assault by the
M type-37 twin heavy machine-guns on shared mount enemy, the structure was built with grade 3 durability.
L1 (d4-k) type-36 4cm anti-tank fortress cannon nwith type-37 heavy machine gun Concrete components were constructed by V. Nekvasil
N type-26 light machine-gun a.s., a company based in Prague-Karlin, within a single

week in August 1936, using 1,993 m? of concrete.

Bell-chamber
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View of bell-chambers and cupola of MO-S 19 Alej (current state)

In front of the facing wall and around Alej is a four
metre-high embankment made out of boulders and, to-
gether with the roof, covered with a layer of earth and
grass, providing the facing wall with camouflage and
effective protection against artillery salvos. Both side
walls, with embrasures for primary weapons directed
towards the east and west and allowing lateral fire in
defence of the neighbouring Obora and Orel fortresses,
are protected from enemy fire from the northeast and
northwest. The blockhouse and its main weapons are
protected by the extended side walls, in the form of
wings, that extend to the sides and contain embedded
ports. The upper side of embrasures are protected from
shots from above (charges released from the ceiling
beam in front of embrasures and the entrance; weapons
salvos with a steep trajectory) by overhangs (corbels),
which shade and prevent aerial monitoring similarly
to camouflage material, which could be anchored on
hooks on the edge of the roof plate. Protective ditches
located in front of embrasures for main weapons are
sometimes labelled ‘diamond ditches’ (breadth 175 cm,
depth 310 cm) and prevent attackers gaining access to
the blockhouse’s embrasures and their neutralisation
with explosives. Ditches also served to catch spent car-
tridges from gun positions. The grenade slide, above
which there is an embrasure for a type-26 machine gun
for the protection of the main weapons, also opens out
into the ditches.

The gun positions — casemates - contained the
blockhouse’s main weapons, i.e. type-36, 47 mm anti-
tank cannons and type-36, 47 mm heavy machine guns.
The rear walls of gun positions include embrasures for
type-26 light machine guns to protect the entrance. Ad-
ditionally, in the left-hand gun room there is a grenade

chute protecting the rear area in front of the entrance
and in the right-hand gun room another two type-37
heavy machine guns 37 mounted on a shared carriage.

Right-hand gun position of MO-S 19 Alej

Embrasure in bell-chamber

Corridor in left-hand part of structure
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The actual entrance is situated in the rear wall
and is protected by three weapons and a triple set of
doors. The front part of the entrance corridor is fitted
with a grille constructed from 3cm-thick steel bars; in
the crooked corridor beyond this are two 3cm-thick and
450kg-heavy armoured, reinforced and gas-tight doors.
The lower half of the first set of doors is equipped with
a hatchway (emergency exit) covered by a screwed-on
steel plate with an antipressure fitting, allowing the op-
erator to block the door using a steel strut. The space
between the doors thus restricts the penetration of poi-
sonous gases into the structure, as well as guaranteeing
the maintenance of the structure’s internal pressure. The
first set of doors can withstand grenade explosions up
to 210mm in its immediate vicinity without sustaining
damage.

The entry passage, in which are located the grilled
ventilation ducts containing air filtration devices, pro-
tect the pistol embrasure by the entrance, designed for
a type-38 9 mm machine pistol.

A passageway leads across the upper, opera-
tional level. At the left-hand side of this passageway is
an infantry port with three embrasures and a height-
adjustable floor. The walls of the bell-chamber are fitted
with mounts for type-26 light machine gun carriages,
observation holes, replacement gun barrels, store cup-
boards, signalling pistols, folding chairs and a lid for the
periscope opening. The bell-chamber is equipped with
a manual munitions lift as well as light signals, a stand-
ard telephone and brass speaking tubes. Beside the tel-
ephone is an armoured tube, which is fastened to the
weapon and directs empty cartridges away into a pipe
leading to a metal box underneath the bell-chamber,
from which waste gases are sucked away by an exhaust.

The exhaust is located in front of the entrance to
the area underneath the bell-chamber, to the left of the
embrasure, providing protection for blockhouse’s main
weapons embrasures. Embrasures can also be supple-
mented with an observation or gun holes. To the right of
the embrasure is a trench periscope and grenade chute.

Opposite to the embrasure is a telephone ex-
change with a type-35 field telephone, next to which
is the commander’s room, directly adjacent to the tele-
graph room. Across the passageway is the left-hand gun
position for the fort’s anti-tank cannon, with a protected
entrance to the embrasure supplemented by a grenade
chute.

Accommodation for eight men in lower level

Type-26 light machine gun in MO-S 19 Alej bell-chamber

Embrasure for twin machine-guns
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Left-hand gun position of MO-S 19 Alej

Photo no. 20: Water tanks in MO-S 19 Alej

Detail of embrasure with sealing sphere

In this room, as in other parts of the structure, ex-
hibited areas are clad in metal, which was intended to
prevent flying shard of concrete in the event of the struc-
ture taking a hit. The final row of bricks in blockhouse

partitioning walls is replaced by a layer of asphalt and
cork, intended to dampen the transfer of vibrations from
the reinforced-concrete roof to these walls in the event
of the blockhouse being hit. By the entrance there is
an store of ammunition for 47-caliber anti-tank cannons,
and on the passageway behind it an embrasure for the
gunman. From corridor, one enters the gun position in
the copula, containing a store of some of the 7.92-ca-
liber ammunition and from there to a fully equipped,
standalone copula, containing two original sets of type-
39 observation binoculars (1.1x magnification) and two
type-37 heavy machine-guns on a shared carriage. The
second section of the upper floor is effectively identical
to the left-hand side, except for water tanks for the event
that the well was damaged.

Pride of place in this half of the operations floor is
taken by the gun position. The weapon here is a type-36
47-caliber 4cm cannon, with the gun-barrel head in the
embrasure fitted with an armoured sealing sphere. This
weapon also includes a type-37 heavy machine gun, de-
signed for use in forts, which is mounted on the gun cra-
dle as an auxiliary weapon. Both weapons are aimed us-
ing a shared type-36 sight with 2x magnification, fitted
on the left-hand side of the gun cradle. During combat
the aimer could utilise information reported from the
bell-chamber by the observer via the telephone, brass
speaking tube or light signals. The weapon as a whole
was operated by a crew of 3 to 6 (cannon commander,
aimer, loader, machine-gun operator and two ammuni-
tion carriers). This cannon was produced from the end
of 1936 by the Skoda works in Plzen, and the total pri-
ce, not including the machine-gun, was 360 thousand
crowns. The weapon has a range of 5.8 km and firing-
rate of up to 35 rounds per minute. In its time it was one
of the best fort weapons in the world.

4 cm type-36,47 mm fort cannon in right-hand gun position of
MO-S 19 Alej
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The second main weapon in the gun position, a pair
of type-37, 7.92 mm heavy machine guns mounted on
a shared carriage, is fitted with the same optical system as
the cannon. These weapons allow very precise firing, even
during darkness, fog or in a smoky battlefield situation,
aided by a panoramic map, located on the gun mount
above the weapon and showing the surrounding ter-
rain in relation to the weapons’ field of fire and reference
points. Empty cartridges are channelled to the protec-
tive ditch via two bronze tubes fitted with spring-loaded
scales. The gun mount allows the right-hand machine
gun an individual field of fire to increase the sweep of the
weapons. The weapons are operated by a crew of three.

The auxiliary weapon at this position is a type-26
light machine gun, located in a protective embrasure and
operated by a crew of one. At the time, both types of ma-
chine gun were top-of-the-range weapons, spreading the
renown of Czechoslovak munitions technology around
the world and becoming a popular export item for years
to come.

To the right of the embrasure is an original pres-
sure gauge and a terminal for the connection of a field
telephone in case of emergency. Underneath this, ventila-
tion ducts are located in the floor area. To the left of the
embrasure are eight circular apertures, now closed off, for
the purpose of ventilation.

The room formerly contained an emergency supply
of ammunition (624 cannon rounds and 40 tho. machine-
gun rounds), a type-23 set of locksmith's tools, cases
containing necessary items for the cannon, storage con-
tainers binoculars, preserving agents and a replacement
barrel for the cannon. The room is lit using electricity and
also contains several petrol lamps (type-35 Meva) in case
of emergency and electricity blackouts.

A staircase with sixteen steps and two handrails
leads from the upper to the lower floor. Underneath the
staircase is stored engineering equipment and spare
parts. Opposite the staircase is the main crew accommo-
dation area, containing six double beds.

To the left of the staircase is the entrance to the
washroom, with a 210-litre water tank and wash spout.
Behind the washroom are two toilets, intended for use
only during combat. Waste materials are stored in a sep-
tic tank, from which a pipe leads to the control shaft in
a stone ditch and further to the rear section, where it
terminates in a shutter and drain. The right-hand part of
the lower levels is completed with a sleeping-area for two
non-commissioned officers and storage area for hand-
grenades. To the right of the staircase is a sleeping-area
for four men and behind it, a further sleeping-area for
two bob-commissioned officers. Further there is a storage
area for two weeks' provisions in the event of combat.

Pair of type-37, 7.92 mm heavy machine-guns in right-hand gun
position of MO-S 19 Alej

Light machine-gun in right-hand part of structure

Type-26 light machine gun in protective embrasure
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Poison gas detectors in MO-S 19 Alej

View of bell-chamber

Periscope in bell-chamber

Filtration unit in MO-S 19 Alej

The remaining part of the lower level consists pri-
marily of technical equipment. It is here that the main
filtration unit is located, placed on a concrete base and
with a switch for manual operation. The filters include
an original set of detectors for the monitoring of levels
of poison gases in the air.

Ventilation equipment was chosen according to
armaments used and the standards of use for air for indi-
vidual weapons and equipment.

A well is located in the corner of the filtration
room. This well is 47.9 m deep and has an average bore
diameter of 20 cm. In a further room is contained the
generator, which is fixed to a concrete base and during
peacetime was activated only for tests and personnel
training. The room was lit using petrol lamps. The gen-
erator room also includes an exhaust for the removal of
waste materials and a water tank for cooling the motor.
Behind the generator room is located the storage area
for fuel and lubricants, which contained fuel (11 bar-
rels) for 14 days’ generator operation, and the munitions
store for the 7.92 mm machine guns.
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Infantry blockhouse MO-S 17 Stipky

Period photograph of MO-S 17 Stipky

Period view of left-hand side of MO-S 17 Stipky

This is a two-sided, two-winged two-floored infantry
blockhouse of grade-2 durability with 2 observation
zones and a mortar position in a lowered section of the
lower floor, with an east-facing embrasure. The block-
house was designed to accommodate one type-36, 47
mm anti-tank cannon, mounted with a type-37 heavy
machine gun, as well as a further four type-37 heavy
machine guns (two of which are mounted as a pair),
six type-26 light machine guns and a type-38 90 mm
mortar. The blockhouse was built by the Ing. V. Nekvasil,

Prague company. Concrete components were installed
between 3 and 9™ September 1936. In 1945 the interior
of the structure was destroyed by the Red Army, mak-
ing it possible to view details of the blockhouse’s struc-
ture. Worthy of attention are the exposed steel supports
within the damaged concrete walls, the preserved mor-
tar embrasure and the inspection chamber for waste in
front of the rear part of the structure. Entry to the struc-
ture is not permitted for safety reasons.

View of left-hand side of MO-S 17 Stipky as it is today
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Infantry blockhouse MO-S 18 Obora

Period view of MO-S 18 Obora

MO-S 18 Obora, current view
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This is a one-sided, standalone infantry blockhouse
built with grade-2 durability. The roof is 2 m thick. The
blockhouse was crewed by twenty-four members of
Border Regiment 4, based in Hlucin. In 1940, the ob-
servation chamber was removed by the German army.
Observation chamber OP-S 28 Mezicesti was subse-
quently reinstalled in the course of refurbishment work,
on 15" December 1991. The entry passage contains
a commemorative plaque to Jaroslav Svarc, a member
of the blockhouse crew who was dispatched as part of
parachute group TIN to the Protectorate of Bohemia and
Moravia during the occupation and fell, together with
other parachutists participating in the assassination on
Reich Protector Reinhard Heydrich, in the crypt of the
Church of Sts. Cyril and Methodius (St. Karel Boromejsky)
in Resslova street in Prague-Nové Mésto.

The blockhouse contains an original, function-
ing “Royal” pump, a diesel generator, fully-functioning
ventilation/filtration system, water tank, accommoda-
tion area, munitions stores and a fully-equipped gun
position. The embrasure, originally designed to accom-
modate a type-36, 47-caliber 4 cm fortress cannon, now
contains part of a DOT 4 Soviet anti-tank cannon, which
was originally inspired by Czechoslovak munitions tech-
nology.

The "Royal” pump, performance 21 litres per minute, can pump
water from depths of up to 150 metres

When viewing the fortress, visitors can imagine
what life was like in the fortress during combat, handle
weapons and also pump water from depths of up to
50 m using the restored pump. Visitors will also be im-
pressed by the fully-operational generator. Access to the
fortress is only provided on an occasional basis.

Gun position of MO-S 18 Obora
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Infantry blockhouse MO-S 20 Orel

Period photo of MO-S 20 Orel

This is a fortress-type, standalone blockhouse, which
was originally intended to form part of the planned
U Orla fortress, and is the only part of this fortress that
was built. The blockhouse was built in order to fill a gap
in the line until the entire fortress was built. Following
completion of the fortress, the blockhouse would have
essentially constituted the second line of defence and its
main task would have been to observe and direct artil-
lery fire from the observation chamber.

MO-S 20 Orel. current view

Before the installation of concrete elements, it was
necessary to dig a shaft more than 26 metres deep; this
was intended to connect the structure with the under-
ground fortress. Due to the sandy soil, the digging of the
shaft proved problematic, and on 17" August 1936 the
shaft claimed its first victim, labourer Frantisek Hanicak,
who was hit on the head by a moving cage-lift when
looking into the shaft. The shaft claimed further victims
after the war, when some visitors, unfamiliar with the
terrain, fell in. Since 1945, a minimum 6 people have
fallen into the shaft, one of whom was pulled out alive,
in 1970.

MO-S 20 Orel was equipped with two type-36, 47
mm anti-tank cannons, six type-37 heavy machine guns
and six type-26 light machine guns. The structure was
fitted with two armoured observation bell-chambers,
weighing over 50 tonnes and fitted with light machine
guns. An unarmed artillery observation chamber was
embedded in the centre of the facing wall and was in-
tended solely for the observation and directing of artil-
lery fire. To this end, it was equipped with a total of three
apertures, through which observations could be made
using standard binoculars. At the peak of the bell-cham-
ber was an additional aperture for a special type-38 peri-
scope with variable 6/10x magnification, which was pro-
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duced by Optikotechna Prerov, but which could not be
delivered before the Munich Agreement came into ef-
fect. In 1938, the observer assigned to the bell-chamber
was Sgt. Ota Frohlich from the 8™ Artillery Regiment in
Hranice, whose brigade was in charge of artillery in the
area. The structure was crewed by a total 44 men and
was commanded in September 1938 by Sgt. Jan Fianta.

During the war, the structure was repeatedly hit
during exercises by the German army, and in the spring
of 1945 was a key point in the German defence against
the advancing units of the 1%t Guards Army. This section
of the defensive line was defended by the remnants of
the ‘Heinrici’ army group, consisting of the 1 Tank Army
and the Hungarian 1%t Army, which had sustained sig-
nificant losses in previous fighting. Some of the trenches
have been preserved from the fighting between units
commanded by Gen. Grecko against units of the ‘Mitte’
armies, commanded by Col.-Gen., later Field Marshal,
Ferdinand Schérner, who resided at the chateau in
Hlugin.

This fact, and the intensity of the fighting, con-
tinues to be documented by the fact that remains of
soldiers fallen during the fighting, as well as a relatively
large amount of ordnance from both sides, primarily in
zone MO-S 16 - 23, but also in surrounding communi-
ties. One highly interesting find was an unexploded 120
mm mortar grenade embedded in the concrete of MO-S
19 Alej, which was only discovered, and subsequently
neutralised, during refurbishment; up until then it had,
for decades, been a danger to the local youth, who
would meet in the immediate vicinity.

After the end of the war, damaged areas were
repaired, trenches were filled in, etc. Heavy-duty struc-
tures also started to be cleared of left-over munitions.
Explosives experts engaged in the removal of ordnance
reported the use of new types of mine at this location. In
the 1950s the entrances to the structures were bricked
up. Despite this, fatal injuries did, and continue to, occur
at the fortresses.

The structure has been deliberately preserved in
the state it was following the end of the Second World
War, i.e. without armoured bell-chambers and with the
main embrasures ripped out and replaced by concrete
embrasures from spring 1945. The front wall was de-
stroyed in the course of artillery exercises and heavy
fighting. The interior of the structure was damaged by
an explosion caused by the retreating German forces,
who detonated the munitions store. Following the ex-
plosion, the greater part of the staircase collapsed to
the subterranean level. The explosion also destroyed the
walled cross-beams.

Some limited remains of the original electrical
fittings have been preserved within the structure. The
remains of the pump and various items from the fight-
ing in 1945, such as helmets, field shovels etc., were ad-
ditionally found within the shaft. On the structure itself,
the German label T-XIX, differing from the Czech num-
bering system, has also been preserved beneath the
corbel by the entrance. The phrase ‘the shaft awaits its
next victim’ on the wall by the shaft serves as a reminder
of fatal injuries suffered here.

Period view from bell-chamber of MO-S 20 Orel to MO-S 21 Jaros

Hardware at MO-S 20 Orel

Sat. Ota Frohlich, auxiliary brigade observer from artillery
observation chamber MO-S 20 Orel (September 1938).
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Type-37 A 140Z light fortress Reconstruction of complex

MO-S 19 Alej blockhouse at start of renovation process

Type-37A LO - fopik with memorial to fighting in 1945 in the background

This type of fortress was known as a fopik, and consisted
of reinforced-concrete pillboxes within the Czecho-
slovak fortification system. The name comes from the
Czech acronym ROP (Reditelstvi opevriovacich praci -
Directorate of Fortifications), which organised the con-
struction of fortifications. This structure is fitted with
machine-gun mounts, periscopes, a ventilator and en-
gineering equipment. The fopik and surrounding area
have been restored to the condition they were in 1938,
and are therefore surrounded with obstacles, antiper-
sonnel obstructions and an antitank ditch.

Right-hand shooting gallery before installation of embrasures

Anti-infantry obstructions in front of Alej
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Everyday life in the fortresses

Part of crew of MO-S 19 Alej with dog Jiskra

Starting in 1937, the fortresses in the complex were
manned on a permanent basis by members of the bor-
der regiments, who spent a week at a time at the for-
tresses before being relieved by their colleagues. When
on duty, they would carry out exercises by lamplight,
as the electricity generator was activated for only one
hour per week to check that it was working. During their
stay at a fortress, soldiers would, apart from demanding
training, repair obstacles in the vicinity of the structure,
carry out regular maintenance work, and maintain their
section of fortifications in a serviceable state.

During the first platoon’s week-long stay at the for-
tresses, food was delivered to troops daily by horse from
the Hlucin barracks, where the second platoon would
be occupied in the meantime. While at the fortresses,
soldiers were not permitted to use the toilets, even
though these were, for the time, very modern, with flush
mechanisms and their own cistern, located beneath the
fortress. Instead, they had to use the latrines in rear areas
of the fortress. Interior toilets were intended for use only
during combat.

Fortress crews did not live only at the fortresses,
but also enjoyed civilian life. There were several instanc-
es of soldiers becoming acquainted with local women
and settling in the area permanently after the war. How-
ever, the fortress crews are also associated with some
tragic events. An incident is recorded of a gun going off
and killing a soldier while it was being cleaned; then at
a ball there was one instance of a soldier getting into a
fight over a girl and being killed with a metal rod on his
way back to the fortress. These are only two incidents
associated with the fortresses. Later events and, mainly,
the end of the war, were much crueller.

Photograph of Border Regiment 4

Regimental banners of Border Regiment 4

The Hlucin-Darkovicky Czechoslovak Fortification Complex




The Hlucin-Darkovicky Czechoslovak Fortification Complex The Hlucin-Darkovicky Czechoslovak Fortification Complex

Regu lar events Hiking trail along the line of Czechoslovak fortifications in the Hlucin region

The Complex is today the venue for a number of edu-
cational and commemorative events. Regular battlefield
reconstructions are organised with the cooperation of
the Czech Army.

Every September there is a walk along the line of
the Czechoslovak fortifications. There is also a hiking
trail following the route in the Hlucin region. The route
is marked green and is approximately 6.5 km long. The
route is suitable as a walking and cycling trail and leads Opav,
from the MO-S 16 Rozcesti infantry blockhouse around a M(())—S |20
other light- and heavy-duty structures of the Hlucin- re
Darkovicky Czechoslovak Fortification Complex, finish-
ing at blockhouse MO-S 24 Signdl. Along the route it
is possible to view a variety of structural designs docu-

MO-s 19 MO-S 17
menting the development of Czechoslovak fortifica- Alej Stipky
tions. Due to the efforts of military history clubs, who MO-S 18
are starting to restore individual blockhouses, visitors Obora
can also view the interior of several structures along the
hiking trail.

NB: As of June 2012 the trail has been extended to NO-S 10
Reconstructions being carried out by members of the Czech Army

Hluéin-Darkovicky Czechoslovak
Fortification Complex

— — marked trail
A heavy fortification structure

@ light fortification structure

MO-517  designation of premises under
Stipky  administration of Silesian Museum

Rally of historical vehicles on museum premises Walk along line of Czechoslovak fortification system
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The Silesian Museum can be seen as a gate to Silesia,
with a scope extending from both animate and inani-
mate aspects of nature via prehistory and history to art
history, primarily on the territory of Czech Silesia, as well
as north and northwest Moravia. The Silesian Museum
is a contributory organisation of the Ministry of Culture
of the Czech Republic. With a history stretching back to
1814, it is the oldest public museum on the territory of
the current Czech Republic. The museum’s 2,400,000 ex-
hibits mean that it is, at the same time, the third biggest
in the country.

The museum currently administers six buildings
and premises: apart from the Old Exhibition Building in
the centre of Opava, these are the Novy Dvir Arboretum
in Stébofice, the Second World War Memorial in Hrabyné,
the Petr Bezru¢ Memorial in Ostrozna street in Opava, the
Hlu¢in-Darkovicky Czechoslovak Fortification Complex
and the Petr Bezru¢ Chalet in Ostravice. The museum is

home to specialists from the fields of mineralogy, geol-
ogy, palaeontology, botany, dendrology, entomology,
zoology, museology, archaeology, ethnography, numis-
matics, history and art history, including the history of
photography, music, literature and theatre, as well as
military history, and restoration experts, museologists
and librarians.

Every year the Silesian Museum organises around
30 exhibitions, with special attention being devoted to
the history of and nature in Silesia and the Second World
War. The museum is a research organisation involved in
basic and applied research. The results of research are
published in, amongst others, the peer-reviewed Casopis
Slezského zemského muzea (Silesian Museum Journal),
which is published in two editions - edition A for the
natural sciences, and edition B for the historical sciences
- and the Slezsky sbornik (Silesian Gazette), likewise peer-
reviewed.
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